

Effect of vaccination against gonadotrophin-releasing factor of male pigs on meat and fat quality

Emmeli Sjöqvist

Degree project/Independent project • 15 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Department of Molecular Sciences Agricultural programme – Food Science Uppsala, 2023



Effect of vaccination against gonadotrophin-releasing factor of male pigs on meat and fat quality

Emmeli Sjöqvist

Supervisor: Galia Zamaratskaia, Swedish University of Agricultural

Sciences, Department of Molecular Sciences

Examiner: Sabine Sampels, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences,

Department of Molecular Sciences

Credits: 15 credits
Level: First cycle, G2E

Course title: Independent project in Food Science

Course code: EX0669

Programme/education: Agricultural programme – Food Science **Course coordinating dept:** Department of Molecular Sciences

Place of publication: Uppsala

Year of publication: 2023

Keywords: Immunological castration, meat quality, boar taint

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources
Department of Molecular Sciences

Abstract

The aim of this thesis was to investigate if meat and fat quality are influenced by castration, and hence examine if it is possible to improve animal welfare by introducing immunological castration (immunocastration) as an alternative to the stressful and painful procedure of surgical castration. Immunocastration is used as an alternative to surgical castration (removal of the testes) to reduce boar taint. Boar taint is an offensive odor detectable by sensitive consumers in meat from some mature male pigs.

This literature study was performed in order to evaluate the effects of surgical and immunocastration on various aspects of meat quality. The quality aspects were subdivided into carcass quality, sensory quality, technological quality and sensory quality, particularly boar taint. Immunological castration effectively reduce boar taint. This has been demonstrated with sensory evaluation in consumer trials, trained panels and by chemical analysis of skatole and androstenone. Overall the method of castration seems to have a weak impact on sensory quality.

When differences in carcass quality were found, the effect was small, or results were inconclusive. Furthermore, the effect sizes were low to moderate, which indicates that the impact of castration method may be of low relevance.

The castration method does not have a large impact on technological quality. In some studies, a small difference was found in the degree of saturation of the fat.

Immunological castration is valid alternative to surgical castration. A late vaccination schedule may even improve some quality parameters and be economically favourable.

Keywords: Immunological castration, meat quality, boar taint

Table of contents

1.	Introduction	6
1.1	Boar taint	
1.2	Castration methods	6
	1.2.1 Reasons for castration	6
	1.2.2 Surgical castration	7
	1.2.3 Immunological castration	7
	1.2.4 Meat quality	7
2.	Aim	9
3.	Method	10
4.	Literature review	11
4.1	Carcass quality	11
	4.1.1 Carcass weight	11
	4.1.2 Lean meat percentage	12
	4.1.3 Dressing percentage	12
	4.1.4 Back Fat Thickness	12
	4.1.5 Prime cuts	13
4.2	Technological quality	13
	4.2.1 pH 13	
	4.2.2 Drip loss	13
	4.2.3 Cooking loss	14
	4.2.4 Shear force	14
	4.2.5 Color	14
	4.2.6 Intramuscular Fat	14
	4.2.7 Saturation	15
4.3	Sensory quality	15
	4.3.1 Tenderness and juiciness	15
	4.3.2 Aroma and taste	16
	4.3.3 Subjective color	16
	4.3.4 Marbling scores	17
	4.3.5 General appreciation	17
4.4	Boar taint	17
5.	Discussion and conclusion	19

References			
6.	Conclusions	24	
5.4	Sensory quality	22	
5.3	Technological quality	21	
5.2	Carcass quality	20	
5.1	Boar taint	19	

1. Introduction

1.1 Boar taint

Boar taint is an offensive odor detectable by sensitive consumers in pork from some mature uncastrated male pigs. Two compounds are considered mainly responsible for the taint; androstenone and skatole. Androstenone is a pheromonal steroid with a urine-like odor. It is produced in the testes, and the production increases at sexual maturity. Skatole has a fecal odor and is produced by the bacterial flora in the large intestine from tryptophan. Skatole is produced in gilts as well, but the levels are not sufficiently elevated to be considered a meat quality draw back. Both compounds are fat-soluble, and accumulate in fat tissue (European Food Safety Authority, 2004).

Consumer acceptability of tainted pork is influenced by several factors such as culinary habits, age and gender of pigs, and age and gender of consumers (Font-i-Furnols et al., 2003). A majority of the consumers is able to perceive skatole, but insensitivity to androstenone is more common due to genetic inheritance. The perception of androstenone can be enhanced by skatole. However, not all sensitive consumers dislike the odor (European Food Safety Authority, 2004). The compounds are to some extent volatile and the perception may be enhanced by heat (Babol & Squires, 1995; Font-i-Furnols et al., 2008; Lundström et al., 2009).

1.2 Castration methods

1.2.1 Reasons for castration

Castration of male pigs reduce boar taint compounds and aggressive behavior. Castrated animals also tend to grow fatter; and this characteristic was highly appreciated during the times when high-energy diet was necessity. Today, however, the market demands low fat meat. Entire males are leaner and are considered as healthier alternative to meat from castrated pigs (European Food Safety Authority, 2004)

1.2.2 Surgical castration

Surgical castration effectively prevents boar taint. It is usually carried out within the first days of the piglet's life. In some countries, castration is performed traditionally without anesthesia or analgesia and the open wound is left to heal without further treatment. Neonates were believed to not experience pain, but research has demonstrated this presumption false (European Food Safety Authority, 2004; Jordbruksverket, 2013). Since 2016, castration without anesthesia is prohibited by law in Sweden (Jordbruksverket, 2013) and the European Commission committed a voluntary declaration with a plan to end surgical castration of pigs in Europe by 2018 (European Commission, 2011). However, this deadline has not been met, Many EU countries continue to castrate pigs surgically, because of either lack of optimal alternatives or insufficient encourage to change the production system.

1.2.3 Immunological castration

Immunological castration is an alternative castration method that increases animal welfare. The testicular function is temporarily blocked when the vaccine provokes an immunological response against an endogenous hormone that controls stimulation of steroid production and spermatogenesis; gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) (European Food Safety Authority, 2004).

The vaccine is administered twice, at least four weeks apart. The first dose primes the immune system and the second dose induce a strong immunological reaction with production of anti-bodies against GnRH. The first dose can be given from week eight, and the second dose at least four weeks later, usually 4-6 weeks before slaughter. The manufacturer recommends that a third dose be administered if slaughter is performed later than 10 weeks after the second injection, as the effect is reversible. However, Zamaratskaia et al. (2008b) reported full effect 22 weeks after second injection, when the trial ended.

1.2.4 Meat quality

There are five major components of meat quality: yield and gross composition, appearance and technological characteristics, palatability, wholesomeness and ethical quality (Warriss, 2009). The importance of the categories varies greatly in different parts of the production chain. Yield and gross composition, or carcass quality, is important to the farmer, as it will decide the payment and thus the economy of the farm. Appearance and technological characteristics are of high importance to the food industry where uniform and high quality are demanded. Conformance and good processing qualities are necessary in large food industries. Palatability, or sensory quality, is of highest value to the consumer.

Carcass classification is the base for payment to the meat producer. The EU classification system of pig carcasses include five classes, EUROP, where each letter represents a span of lean meat percentage.

Table 1. Community scale for the classification of pig carcasses (Council of the European Union 2007)

Grade	Lean meat as percentage of carcass weight
E	55 or more ¹
U	50 or more but less than 55
R	45 or more but less than 50
O	40 or more but less than 45
P	Less than 40

¹Member States may introduce, for pigs slaughtered in their territory, a separate class of 60 % or more of lean meat designated with the letter S.

2. Aim

The aim of this thesis was to investigate if meat and fat quality are influenced by the castration method (surgical vs immunocastration), and hence examine if it is possible to improve animal welfare by introducing immunological castration as an alternative to the stressful and painful procedure of surgical castration.

3. Method

A literature study was performed by using the database Web of Science. The selection of articles was made by searching for articles regarding the subject, using a combination of search terms such as immunocastration, gonadotropin-releasing hormone, male pigs, meat, and quality in various permutations.

The study includes an evaluation of the literature with respect to the following meat quality parameters; carcass quality, technological quality, sensory quality and boar taint. It does not include other possible treatment variables such as feed variations, ecological farming or feed additives.

4. Literature review

4.1 Carcass quality

A meta-analysis by Batorek et al. (2012a) compared carcass traits of immunocastrated males to surgically castrated males and entire males respectively. The effects varied from low to moderate in the cases where differences were found, which indicates that the impact of castration method may be of low relevance.

It is important to emphasize that small effect still may have significant value, depending on the importance of the trait. Fuchs et al. (2009) studied carcass classification of surgically castrated males and immunocastrated males and found that more immunocastrated male carcasses were rated in the highest category in the EUROP grading system. Since the classification of the carcasses is base for payment, even a small difference can be of significant economic value to the farmers.

4.1.1 Carcass weight

Carcass weight does not seem to differ between surgically- and immunocastrated male pigs (Font-i-Furnols et al., 2012; Fuchs et al., 2009; Morales et al., 2011; Yuan et al., 2012). Similarly, no differences were observed between castrated males and entire males (Zamaratskaia et al., 2008a; Pauly et al., 2009; Morales et al., 2011; Boler et al., 2012; Škrlep et al., 2012; Aluwé et al., 2013).

However, diverging results have been reported. Turkstra et al. (2002) reported heavier carcasses from entire males, but immunocastrated males could not be differentiated from either the entire males or the surgically castrated males. Škrlep et al. (2010b) also reported heavier carcasses in entire males, and intermediate values for immunocastrated males. In contrast higher carcass weight in the castrated animals compared to entire males, was reported in some studies (Dunshea et al., 2001; Gispert et al., 2010; Batorek et al., 2012b).

A recent meta-analysis reported intermediate carcass weight in immunocastrated males Poulsen Nautrup et al. (2018).

4.1.2 Lean meat percentage

Entire males were reported to have the highest percentage of lean meat, followed by immunocastrated and surgically castrated pigs (Pauly et al., 2012; Batorek et al., 2012a; b; Poulsen Nautrup et al., 2018). A Belgian study reported similar results, but immunocastrated males and entire males did not statistically differ (Aluwé et al., 2013). A study that evaluated immunocastrated and surgically castrated males did not observe any effect of the castration methods regarding lean meat percentage (Yuan et al., 2012).

4.1.3 Dressing percentage

Several studies reported higher dressing percentage in surgically castrated males than in immunocastrated males (Boler et al., 2012; Yuan et al., 2012; Poulsen Nautrup et al., 2018). Two meta analyses (Batorek et al., 2012a; Poulsen Nautrup et al., 2018) and a trial by Pauly et al., (2009) reported similar results, and that immunocastrated males were comparable to entire males in regard to carcass percentage.

Dunshea et al. (2001) evaluated two vaccination schedules with similar injection times prior to slaughter, but different slaughter age, to investigate the impact on meat quality by age at castration and slaughter. Surgically castrated males exhibited the largest dressing percentage in both trials. Immunocastrated males were equal to entire males in the group slaughtered at a younger age, but the researchers detected a lower dressing percentage in immunocastrated males in the group slaughtered at an older age.

In contrast, no differences were found between immunocastrated and surgically castrated males in a Brazilian study (Caldara et al., 2013).

4.1.4 Back Fat Thickness

Numerous studies have demonstrated that surgical castration increased back fat thickness compared to entire males (Batorek et al., 2012b; Aluwé et al., 2013; Trefan et al., 2013).

The effect of castration method on back fat thickness however is not clear. A few studies and a meta-analysis report higher back fat thickness in surgically castrated males compared to immunocastrated males (Boler et al., 2012; Yuan et al., 2012; Batorek et al., 2012a; Poulsen Nautrup et al., 2018). Aluwé et al. (2013) reported immunocastrated males to be similar to entire males whereas Trefan et al. (2013) and Batorek et al. (2012b) found immunocastrated males similar to surgically castrated males.

Differences between immunocastrated males and entire males were only observed in the groups slaughtered and vaccinated at an older age in a single trial (Dunshea et al., 2001).

4.1.5 Prime cuts

Batorek et al. (2012a) stated that there are few studies reporting detailed data on prime cuts. When immunocastrated males were compared to entire males, the only difference observed was heavier belly weight in immunocastrated males.

When immunocastrated males were compared to surgically castrated males, the immunocastrated males exhibited lower or equal belly percentage, and higher ham and shoulder weight (Batorek et al., 2012a; Boler et al., 2012; Pauly et al., 2009; Poulsen Nautrup et al., 2018).

Boler et al. (2012) reported higher percentage of loin in immunocastrated males, whereas Pauly et al. (2009) reported that the loin was not influenced by castration method although entire males exhibited higher percentage than the castrated males. Similarly, Poulsen Nautrup et al. (2018) reported no difference between castration methods but found improved weight of loin in immunocastrated males compared to entire males.

Caldara et al. (2013) found prime cuts from immunocastrated males and surgically castrated males comparable.

4.2 Technological quality

4.2.1 pH

Castration does not seem to affect pH in the meat (Pauly et al., 2012; Trefan et al., 2013) and consequently the method of castration have no impact on pH either (Aluwé et al. 2022; Batorek et al., 2012a; Caldara et al., 2013).

4.2.2 Drip loss

The results regarding different water holding capacity aspects are inconclusive.

No difference was detected between the genders by Aluwé et al. (2022) nor in two meta-analyses (Pauly et al., 2012; Trefan et al., 2013). Increased drip loss in pork from immunocastrated males compared to entire males was indicated in a meta-analysis by Batorek et al. (2012a), but no significant difference was detected between immuno- and surgically castrated males. Aluwé et al. (2013) found enhanced drip loss in immunocastrated males compared to surgically castrated males.

4.2.3 Cooking loss

Castration does not seem to have an impact on cooking loss (Pauly et al., 2009; Jeong et al., 2011; Škrlep et al., 2012) and neither does the choice of castration method (Yuan et al., 2012; Caldara et al., 2013). When differences were found it was in favor of surgical castration. Boler et al. (2012) compared immunocastrated males and surgically castrated males and found that immunocastrated males had higher cooking loss. Batorek et al. (2012b) found immunocastrated males to be close to entire males and Aluwé et al. (2013) found that immunocastrated males exhibited increased cooking loss compared to entire males.

4.2.4 Shear force

Immunocastration seem to have a positive influence on shear force, with more tender meat compared to entire males (Pauly et al., 2012; Batorek et al., 2012a). Several studies have demonstrated that castration method does not influence shear force (Jeong et al., 2011; Boler et al., 2012; Yuan et al., 2012; Batorek et al., 2012a; b; Aluwé et al., 2013; Caldara et al., 2013; Aluwé et al., 2022).

A meta-analysis reported lower shear force in immunocastrated males compared to surgically castrated males (Pauly et al., 2012).

4.2.5 Color

Lightness, redness and yellowness of the meat did not differ between the genders (Pauly et al., 2012; Aluwé et al., 2013; Trefan et al., 2013; Batorek et al., 2012b). The meta-analysis by Batorek et al. (2012a) found no differences when meat from immunocastrated males were compared to meat from surgically castrated males.

There are some discrepancies in the data however. Batorek et al. (2012a) evaluated objective color in a meta-analysis and detected slightly lighter meat in immunocastrated males than entire males. This trend approached the level of significance in another meta-analysis by Trefan et al. (2013).

Two of the reviewed studies diverge regarding redness/yellowness scores. Jeong et al. (2011) reported higher redness scores of meat from immunocastrated males than of meat from surgically castrated males, and higher scores for yellow compared to entire males. In accordance, Aluwé et al. (2013) found meat from immunocastrated males to be redder than meat from surgically castrated males but less yellow than meat from entire males.

4.2.6 Intramuscular Fat

Two meta-analyses came to the same conclusions that intramuscular fat content is not influenced by castration method, but entire males were found to have lower intramuscular fat content than the castrated males (Pauly et al., 2012; Trefan et al., 2013). Similarly Batorek et al. (2012a) found no statistical difference between

immunocastrated males and surgically castrated males, but intramuscular fat was more abundant in immunocastrated males than in entire males.

Intermediate values of fat content for immunocastrated males were found by Jeong et al. (2011) and Batorek et al. (2012b). Aluwé et al. (2022) reported higher intramuscular fat content in surgically castrated males, compared to immunocastrated males and entire males.

4.2.7 Saturation

The data regarding saturation of fat in entire males, surgically castrated males and immunocastrated males are conflicting and inconclusive. This might be due to the fact that the samples are taken from different parts of the carcasses.

In a meta-analysis by Pauly et al. (2012), the fatty acid composition was measured in adipose tissue. Entire males had lower percentage of saturated fatty acids and higher percentage of polyunsaturated fatty acids than the castrated animals. Mono-unsaturated fatty acid percentage was also higher than in surgically castrated animals. There was no difference in saturation between fat from immunocastrated males and surgically castrated males, but the data was restricted as only two studies were included.

Boler et al. (2012) evaluated fatty acid composition in bellies from immunocastrated males and surgically castrated males. The animals were slaughtered at 23 or 25 weeks of age, 4 or 6 weeks post the second injection of the vaccine. When the results were averaged over slaughter times, a higher mono unsaturated fatty acid and polyunsaturated fatty acid content were observed in fat from immunocastrated males compared to surgically castrated males.

Yuan et al. (2012) measured fatty acid composition in subcutaneous fat and in longissimus muscle in immunocastrated males and surgically castrated males. The saturated fatty acid and mono-unsaturated fatty acid content did not differ, but immunocastrated males had higher content of polyunsaturated fatty acids.

A Spanish study reported no important difference in saturation between immunocastrated males and surgically castrated males (Font i Furnols, 2012).

4.3 Sensory quality

The sensory parameters investigated in this thesis are aroma, taste, color, tenderness, juiciness, marbling scores and general appreciation.

4.3.1 Tenderness and juiciness

Two meta-analyses found no statistical difference between the genders when tenderness and juiciness were evaluated by consumers and trained panels (Pauly et al., 2012; Trefan et al., 2013).

A Brazilian study reported similar results when a non-trained panel compared the texture of meat from surgically castrated and immunocastrated males (Caldara et al., 2013).

A Spanish study used a trained panel and observed no impact on the castration method and meat texture, but pork from entire males exhibited higher toughness and lower juiciness than meat from the castrated animals (Font-i-Furnols et al., 2009) Similar results were reported by Aluwé, et al. (2022) in a study with consumer panels in six European countries.

When texture of pork bellies was evaluated by a trained panel in a Korean study (Jeong et al., 2011), the bellies from surgically castrated males were perceived as the most tender and juicy. Meat from immunocastrated males could not be differentiated from surgically castrated males or entire males when tenderness was considered, and juiciness scores were equal to entire males.

When a home consumer panel in a Belgian study evaluated sensory quality of pork loin, the only statistically significant differences were found in tenderness and juiciness. Meat from surgically castrated males received higher scores; immunocastrated males were intermediate in tenderness and could not be differentiated from entire males regarding juiciness (Aluwé et al., 2013).

4.3.2 Aroma and taste

Castration method does not seem to influence aroma and taste of pork (Poulsen Nautrup et al., 2018). D'Souza et al. (2002) used a consumer panel and Caldara et al. (2013) used a non-trained panel to evaluate pork from immunocastrated males and surgically castrated males. No differences were observed.

Font-i-Furnols et al. (2008; 2009) observed similar results but found that entire males got lower scores by both a trained panel and a consumer panel.

In contrast, a home consumer panel did not differentiate pork loin from entire males, immunocastrated males or surgically castrated males, in a Belgian study by Aluwé et al. (2013). Similar results were observed in a Korean study even though a panel trained for androstenone was used (Jeong et al., 2011). Unfortunately, the sensory evaluation was not supplemented by a chemical analysis. As not all entire males exhibit levels of androstenone and skatole above sensory threshold, the possibility that the samples were not tainted cannot be excluded.

4.3.3 Subjective color

Similar color of pork loin from immunocastrated males, surgically castrated males and entire males was observed in a Belgian home consumer test (Aluwé et al., 2013).

A Korean study compared pork bellies of entire males, surgically castrated males and immunocastrated males. The trained panel preferred meat from

immunocastrated males to meat from surgically castrated males. Pork from entire males was perceived as comparable to both immunocastrated males and surgically castrated males. Jeong et al., (2011) observed that the sensory evaluation agreed with trends in the subjective color evaluation, and concluded that Korean consumers seemed to appreciate redness in pork.

4.3.4 Marbling scores

Data regarding marbling scores are scarce. A meta-analysis by Trefan et al. (2013) evaluated marbling scores in pork from surgically castrated and entire males and found that surgical castration improved marbling scores. Gispert et al. (2010) reported similar results, but immunocastrated males could not be differentiated from either surgically castrated males or entire males. Boler et al. (2012) compared immunocastrated and surgically castrated males, and found that surgically castrated males exhibited higher subjective marbling scores.

4.3.5 General appreciation

Only five of the articles reviewed evaluated general appreciation. Castration method did not affect the overall appreciation when a consumer panel in an Australian study (D'Souza & Mullan, 2002) evaluated steaks. Similar results were achieved when entire males were included in a Belgian study. A home consumer panel, free to choose cooking preparations, evaluated pork loin samples and rated the gender similarly (Aluwé et al., 2013). Spanish consumers did not either differentiate between loins from the castrated animals, but were more dissatisfied with loins from entire males (Font-i-Furnols et al., 2008). Aluwé et al. (2022) reported lower scores for entire males and mostly similar scores in surgically castrated and immunologically castrated males. Some differences in overall liking between the participating countries were found. Poulsen Nautrup et al. (2018) found no difference in general appreciation between the castration methods.

Only one study observed a difference between surgically and immunocastrated males. A trained panel in a Korean study preferred bellies from immunocastrated males whereas entire males and surgically castrated males got similar ratings (Jeong et al., 2011).

4.4 Boar taint

Both surgical and immunological castration effectively reduce boar taint. This has been demonstrated with sensory evaluation in consumer trials, trained panels and by chemical analysis of skatole and androstenone (Font-i-Furnols et al., 2008; Font-i-Furnols et al., 2009; Pauly et al., 2009; Weiler et al., 2012; Batorek et al., 2012b; Aluwé et al., 2013; Poulsen Nautrup, et al., 2018). A meta-analysis detected a small

but significant difference between immunocastrated males and surgically castrated males where immunocastrated males had higher levels of androstenone and skatole (Batorek et al., 2012a). Weiler et al. (2012) reported similar results, though skatole levels were low in all treatments (immunocastrated, surgically castrated and entire males).

Discussion and conclusion

5.1 Boar taint

All scientific articles reviewed in this study have shown that immunocastration is successful in reducing the compounds that are responsible for boar taint. There seems to be a lower effect on skatole than androstenone in both the castration methods (Batorek et al., 2012a). The androstenone levels in fat tissue drops rapidly after the second injection. Complete clearance requires at least three weeks, but the half-life is a few days (Skrlep et al., 2010a).

According to the manufacturer, the animals should be given the first injection from week eight. The injections should be given at least four weeks apart. The effect of immunocastration is reversible, and if slaughter is performed as late as ten weeks after the second dose, a third dose should be provided to ensure complete androstenone depletion. However, it has been demonstrated that immunocastration can be effective much longer than ten weeks (Zamaratskaia et al., 2008b). The immunocastrated pigs keep the anabolic advantages of uncastrated males until the second injection. (Morales et. al 2011)

Some concerns regarding immunological castration have been discussed. There have been observations of non-responders to the vaccine, and the human factor may result in animals that are not properly vaccinated. In addition, late vaccination schedules might not reduce the sizes of the testes enough to make them easily distinguishable from intact males at the slaughter line (European Food Safety Authority, 2004).

Improvac®, manufactured by Pfizer (Zoetis), is the only commercially available castration vaccine on the European market and is therefore involved, in one way or the other, in all the studies reviewed. The possible influence of this fact is not taken into consideration in this thesis.

5.2 Carcass quality

It has been found that the growth rate of tissue is not proportional, i.e. the phenomena called allometric growth has been observed. Fat tissue, for example, has been shown to be the last tissue to mature (Warriss, 2009). Muscles involved with posture, such as longissimus dorsi also mature relatively late compared to ham and shoulder, and will therefore benefit less from the prolonged anabolic potential of immunocastrated males.(Pauly et al., 2009). The effect of the prolonged anabolic potential of immunocastrated males and allometric growth is demonstrated in this thesis.

Carcass weight did not differ between the genders, but the weight of prime cuts varied to some extent. A meta-analysis (Batorek et al., 2012a) concluded that surgically castrated males had heavier belly and lower ham and shoulder weight than immunocastrated males and entire males. Immunocastrated males were similar to entire males beside heavier belly weight. Other studies came to similar conclusions; surgically castrated males either were similar to entire males or were intermediate regarding prime cuts (Boler et al., 2012; Pauly et al., 2009; Poulsen Nautrup et al., 2018).

When immunocastrated males were compared to surgically castrated males, the immunocastrated males exhibited lower or similar belly percentage, and higher ham and shoulder weight (Batorek et al., 2012a; Boler et al., 2012; Pauly et al., 2009; Poulsen Nautrup et al., 2018).

Boler et al. (2012) reported higher percentage of loin in immunocastrated males, whereas Pauly et al. (2009) reported that the loin was not influenced by castration method but that entire males exhibited higher percentage than the castrated males. Poulsen Nautrup et al. (2018) reported similarly no difference between castration methods but found improved weight of loin in immunocastrated males, compared to entire males.

Caldara et al. (2013) found prime cuts from immunocastrated males and surgically castrated males comparable.

Entire males exhibit thinner back fat thickness, but the influence of castration method was not clear. One meta-analysis (Batorek et al., 2012a) reported higher back fat thickness in surgically castrated males whereas another meta-analysis (Trefan et al., 2013) reported no statistical difference between surgically and immunocastrated males. When Dunshea et al. (2001) used the same vaccination protocol regarding time prior to slaughter, but with slaughter at different ages, a difference between the castrated males was only detected in the older group, where immunocastrated males got intermediate values.

Lealiifano et al. (2011) evaluated different vaccination schedules and observed a linear increase of back fat with time between second vaccination and slaughter. The authors concluded that the timing for vaccination is very important. They demonstrated that the second injection could be done as late as two weeks before

slaughter with appropriate clearance of androstenone, and with maximal utilization of the positive anabolic growth associated with entire males.

Dressing percentage of entire males is often lower than of surgically castrated males due to larger genital tract (Babol & Squires, 1995). Immunocastrated males have smaller genital tract than entire males, but it is not completely regressed, which partly explain the lower dressing percentage compared to surgically castrated males (Batorek et al., 2012a).

Interestingly, when Lealiifano et al. (2011) evaluated how time between the second injection and slaughter affected meat quality, dressing percentage was not affected by timing.

The improved lean meat percentage in immunocastrated males compared to surgically castrated males was reported in two meta-analyses (Batorek et al., 2012a; Pauly et al., 2012). This may improve classing of carcasses, as demonstrated by Fuchs et al. (2009).

The commercial grading system commonly used underestimates lean meat percentage in entire males (Babol & Squires, 1995; European Food Safety Authority, 2004). Zamaratskaia et al. (2008a) used two different methods to measure and compare lean meat percentages of immunocastrated, surgically castrated and entire males. Entire males received the highest scores but immunocastrated and surgically castrated males were statistically different only when a partial manual dissection method was used. The discrepancy indicates that the Hennessy probe method may underestimate lean meat percentage in immunocastrated animals as well as entire males. The real difference might therefore be even larger.

5.3 Technological quality

Regarding technological quality, it seems that pH, drip loss and color were generally not affected by castration method or no castration.

Few studies found differences in yellowness and/or redness. However Gispert et al. (2010) and Jeong et al. (2011) found that these differences were not reflected in objective evaluation. Gispert et al. (2010) also stated that even though meat from entire male pigs was darker, this was not of importance since all animals were within the normal range.

Shear force seemed to be decreased by castration and one meta-analysis (Pauly et al., 2012) observed lower shear force in immunocastrated males compared to surgically castrated males. Batorek et al. (2012a) proposed that the improved shear force in immunocastrated compared to entire males may be a result of increased intramuscular fat, but it could also be caused by the compensatory growth following the second vaccination. The increased growth rate causes enhanced protein turnover, which leads to increased proteolysis after slaughter.

Castration increased amount of intramuscular fat. No difference was observed between the two castration methods apart from two studies where immunocastrated pigs got intermediate values (Batorek et al., 2012b; Jeong et al., 2011).

According to Warriss (2009), allometric growth affects not only different tissues but also in what order fat deposits mature. First, the fat surrounding the kidney (perinephric), then intermuscular, subcutaneous and last intramuscular.

It was difficult to draw any conclusions about saturation of the fatty acids between the genders. Sampling method differed and the results were inconclusive, but entire males generally seem to have more unsaturated fat. The meta-analysis by Pauly et al. (2012) observed no differences between the two castration methods, but only two studies were included in the analysis. Two trials observed increased polyunsaturated acids in immunocastrated males, compared to surgically castrated males (Boler et al., 2012; Yuan et al., 2012). Boler et al. (2012) ascribe the lower saturation in immunocastrated males to the lower back fat thickness, and that leanness and unsaturation of fatty acids are generally known to be related in pigs.

5.4 Sensory quality

The effect of vaccination against gonadotrophin-releasing factor of the sensory quality is unfortunately least studied and methodical differences make the results difficult to compare. Overall, castration method seems to have a weak impact on sensory quality.

The studies reviewed reported that surgically castrated and immunologically castrated were similar regarding aroma and taste. This was shown by both trained panels and consumer panels (Aluwé et al., 2013; 2022, Caldara et al., 2013; D'Souza et al., 2002; Font-i-Furnols et al., 2008; 2009; Jeong et al., 2011; Poulsen Nautrup et al., 2018).

Aluwé et al. (2013) performed sensory and chemical analysis of boar taint compounds on pork from immunocastrated, surgically castrated and entire males and got strikingly different results. Approximately a third of the entire males had high androstenone levels, although the home consumer panel did not differentiate between the genders in terms of odor and flavor. Androstenone sensitivity tended to influence flavor and odor scores, but even the sensitive consumers judged the pork acceptable. The authors concluded that these observations further confirmed that high androstenone levels have a low impact of on odor and flavor scores if skatole levels are low. Aluwé et al. (2013) propose that tenderness and juiciness may be of higher concern to the consumers than boar taint, and that earlier vaccination of immunocastrated animals might improve consumer acceptability by increasing fat content.

Most studies found no statistically significant difference regarding tenderness and juiciness between the castration methods (Caldara et al., 2013) or even between

immunologically-, surgically castrated and entire males (Pauly et al., 2012; Trefan et al., 2013). Some studies found that castration improved the evaluation scores compared to entire males (Font-i-Furnols et al., 2009; Aluwé et al., 2022). Tenderness of meat from immunocastrated males was similar to surgically castrated males or intermediate, but juiciness scores were equal to entire males (Aluwé et al., 2013; Jeong et al., 2011).

Data regarding subjective marbling scores are scarce. Boler et al. (2012) evaluated the two castration methods and observed higher scores in surgically castrated males. Škrlep et al. (2010b) reported intermediate values for immunocastrated males when the three genders were compared.

A trained panel in a Korean study (Jeong et al., 2011) did not either differentiate pork bellies from immunocastrated males, surgically castrated males, entire males and females regarding odor and flavor. This is despite the fact that the panel had been trained for increased sensitivity for androstenone and skatole, and the most sensitive panelists then had been selected for the evaluation.

6. Conclusions

Generally, immunological castration is comparable to surgical castration regarding meat quality. Meat quality parameters from immunologically castrated animals are often similar to surgically castrated males, or intermediate between surgically castrated males and entire males. According to some studies, immunocastration might improve some meat quality parameters, such as lean meat percentage, shear force and prime cuts.

Several schedules for immunocastration were proposed. However, further research is needed to investigate timing of second injection.

References

- Aluwé, M., Heyrman, E., Kostyra, E., Żakowska-Biemans, S., Almeida, J., Citek, J., M. Font-i-Furnols, O. Moreira, K. Zadinová, L. Tudoreanu, L. Lin-Schistra & A. Van den Broeke. (2022). Consumer evaluation of meat quality from barrows, immunocastrates and boars in six countries. *Animal*, 16(3), 100455.
- Aluwé, M., Langendries, K.C.M., Bekaert, K.M., Tuyttens, F.A.M., De Brabander, D.L., Smet, S.D., & Millet, S. (2013). Effect of surgical castration, immunocastration and chicory- diet on the meat quality and palatability of boars. *Meat Science*. 94(3), 402–407. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2013.02.015
- Babol, J., & Squires, E.J. (1995). Quality of meat from entire male pigs. *Food Research International*. 28(3), 201–212. doi:10.1016/0963-9969(95)93528-3
- Batorek, N., Candek-Potokar, M., Bonneau, M., & Van Milgen, J. (2012a). Meta-analysis of the effect of immunocastration on production performance, reproductive organs and boar taint compounds in pigs. *Animal*. 6(08), 1330–1338. doi:10.1017/S1751731112000146
- Batorek, N., Škrlep, M., Prunier, A., Louveau, I., Noblet, J., Bonneau, M., & Candek-Potokar, M. (2012b). Effect of feed restriction on hormones, performance, carcass traits, and meat quality in immunocastrated pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*. 90(12), 4593–4603. doi:10.2527/jas.2012-5330
- Boler, D.D., Killefer, J., Meeuwse, D.M., King, V.L., McKeith, F.K., & Dilger, A.C. (2012). Effects of slaughter time post-second injection on carcass cutting yields and bacon characteristics of immunologically castrated male pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*. 90(1), 334–344. doi:10.2527/jas.2011-4071
- Caldara, F.R., Moi, M., Santos, L.S.D., Paz, I.C.D.L.A., Garcia, R.G., Naas, I.D.A., & Fernandes, A.R.M. (2013). Carcass Characteristics and Qualitative Attributes of Pork from Immunocastrated Animals. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*. 26(11), 1630–1636. doi:10.5713/ajas.2013.13160
- Council of the European Union. Council Regulation (EC) No 1234/2007 of 22 October 2007, 50 Official Journal of the European Union (2007). (EC).D'Souza D.N, Mullan B.P. (2002). The effect of genotype, sex and management strategy on the eating quality of pork. *Meat Science*. 60(1), 95-101. doi: 10.1016/s0309-1740(01)00112-7
- Dunshea, F.R., Colantoni, C., Howard, K., McCauley, I., Jackson, P., Long, K.A., Lopaticki, S., Nugent, E.A., Simons J.A., Walker, J. & Hennessy D.P. (2001). Vaccination of boars with a GnRH vaccine (Improvac) eliminates boar taint and increases growth performance. *Journal of Animal Science*. 79(10), 2524–2535. doi:10.3835/journalname.0123456789

- European Commission. (2011). European Declaration on alternatives to surgical castration of pigs. *Ec.Europa.Eu*. Retrieved June 22, 2015, from http://ec.europa.eu/food/animal/welfare/farm/initiatives en.htm
- European Food Safety Authority. (2004). Welfare aspects of the castration of piglets (No. 91, 1-18). efsa.europa.eu. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2004.91
- Font-i-Furnols, M., Gispert, M., Diestre, A., & Oliver, M.A. (2003). Acceptability of boar meat by consumers depending on their age, gender, culinary habits, and sensitivity and appreciation of androstenone odour. *Meat Science*. 64(4), 433–440. doi:10.1016/S0309-1740(02)00212-7
- Font-i-Furnols, M., Gispert, M., Guerrero, L., Velarde, A., Tibau, J., Soler, J., Hortós, M., García-Regueiro, J.A., Pérez, J., Suárez, P. & Oliver, M.A. (2008). Consumers' sensory acceptability of pork from immunocastrated male pigs. *Meat Science*. 80(4), 1013–1018. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2008.04.018
- Font-i-Furnols, M., Gispert, M., Soler, J., Diaz, M., Garcia-Regueiro, J. A., Diaz, I., & Pearce, M.C. (2012). Effect of vaccination against gonadotrophin-releasing factor on growth performance, carcass, meat and fat quality of male Duroc pigs for dry-cured ham production. *Meat Science*. 91(2), 148–154. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.01.008
- Font-i-Furnols, M., González, J., Gispert, M., Oliver, M.A., Hortos, M., Pérez, J., Suárez P. & Guerrero L. (2009). Sensory characterization of meat from pigs vaccinated against gonadotropin releasing factor compared to meat from surgically castrated, entire male and female pigs. *Meat Science*. 83(3), 438–442. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2009.06.020
- Fuchs, T., Nathues, H., Koehrmann, A., Andrews, S., Brock, F., Sudhaus, N., Klein G. & Grosse Beilage E. (2009). A comparison of the carcase characteristics of pigs immunized with a "gonadotrophin-releasing factor (GnRF)" vaccine against boar taint with physically castrated pigs. *Meat Science*. 83(4), 702–705. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2009.08.007
- Gispert, M., Àngels Oliver, M., Velarde, A., Suarez, P., Pérez, J., & Font i Furnols, M. (2010). Carcass and meat quality characteristics of immunocastrated male, surgically castrated male, entire male and female pigs. *Meat Science*. 85(4), 664–670. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2010.03.021
- Jeong, J.-Y., Choi, J.-H., Choi, Y.-S., Han, D.-J., Kim, H.-Y., Lee, M.-A., Lee, D.-H. &, and Kim, C.-J. (2011). The Effects of Immunocastration on Meat Quality and Sensory Properties of Pork Bellies. *Korean Journal for Food Science of Animal Resources*. 31(3), 372–380. doi:10.5851/kosfa.2011.31.3.372
- Jordbruksverket. (2013). *Redovisning av uppdrag om kastrering av smågrisar* (No. Dnr 5.2.17-10135/13) (pp. 1–27).
- Jordbruksverket. (n.d.). Klassificering av slaktkroppar. Retrieved April 14, 2014, from http://www2.jordbruksverket.se/webdav/files/SJV/trycksaker/Pdf ovrigt/ovr21.pdf
- Lealiifano, A.K., Pluske, J.R., Nicholls, R.R., Dunshea, F.R., Campbell, R.G., Hennessy, D.P., et al., Miller D.W., Hansen, C.F., & Mullan B.P. (2011). Reducing the length of time between slaughter and the secondary gonadotropin-releasing factor immunization improves growth performance and clears boar taint compounds in

- male finishing pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*. 89(9), 2782–2792. doi:10.2527/jas.2010-3267
- Lundström, K., Matthews, K. R., & Haugen, J. E. (2009). Pig meat quality from entire males. *Animal*. 3(11), 1497–1507. doi:10.1017/S1751731109990693
- Morales, J.I., Camara, L., Berrocoso, J.D., Lopez, J.P., Mateos, G.G., & Serrano, M.P. (2011). Influence of sex and castration on growth performance and carcass quality of crossbred pigs from 2 Large White sire lines. *Journal of Animal Science*. 89(11), 34813489. doi:10.2527/jas.2010-3357
- Poulsen Nautrup, B., Van Vlaenderen, I., Aldaz, A., & Mah, C.K. (2018). The effect of immunization against gonadotropin-releasing factor on growth performance, carcass characteristics and boar taint relevant to pig producers and the pork packing industry: A meta-analysis. *Research in Veterinary Science*. 119, 182– 195.
- Pauly, C., Luginbühl, W., Ampuero, S., & Bee, G. (2012). Expected effects on carcass and pork quality when surgical castration is omitted Results of a meta-analysis study. *Meat Science*, 92(4), 858–862. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.06.007
- Pauly, C., Spring, P., O'Doherty, J.V., Ampuero Kragten, S., & Bee, G. (2009). Growth performance, carcass characteristics and meat quality of group-penned surgically castrated, immunocastrated (Improvac®) and entire male pigs and individually penned entire male pigs. *Animal*. 3(07), 1057–1066. doi:10.1017/S1751731109004418
- Produkt FASS Djurläkemedel. (n.d.). Produkt FASS Djurläkemedel. Retrieved May 27, 2014, from http://www.fass.se/LIF/product?userType=1&nplId=20070918000076
- Skrlep, M., Segula, B., Zajec, M., Kastelic, M., Kosorok, S., Fazarinc, G., & Candek-Potokar, M. (2010a). Effect of Immunocastration (Improvac®) in Fattening Pigs I: Growth Performance, Reproductive Organs and Malodorous Compounds. Slovenian Veterinary Research. 47(2), 57–64.
- Skrlep, M., Tomašević, I., Mörlein, D., Novaković, S., Egea, M., Garrido, M.D., Linares, M.B., Peñaranda, I.; Aluwé, M.; & Font-i-Furnols, M. (2020). The Use of Pork from Entire Male and Immunocastrated Pigs for Meat Products—An Overview with Recommendations. *Animals*. 10(10).
- Škrlep, M., Batorek, N., Bonneau, M., Prevolnik, M., Kubale, V., & Candek-Potokar, M. (2012). Effect of immunocastration in group-housed commercial fattening pigs on reproductive organs, malodorous compounds, carcass and meat quality. *Czech Journal of Animal Science*. 57(6), 290–299. doi:10.1017/S1751731112000146
- Škrlep, M., Šegula, B., Prevolnik, M., Kirbiš, A., Fazarinc, G., & Candek-Potokar, M. (2010b). Effect of Immunocastration (Improvac®) in Fattening Pigs II: Carcass Traits and Meat Quality. *Slovenian Veterinary Research*. 47(2), 65–72.
- Trefan, L., Doeschl-Wilson, A., Rooke, J. A., Terlouw, C., & Bünger, L. (2013). Meta-analysis of effects of gender in combination with carcass weight and breed on pork quality. *Journal of Animal Science*. 91(3), 1480–1492. doi:10.2527/jas.2012-5200

- Turkstra, J. A., Zeng, X. Y., van Diepen, J. T. M., Jongbloed, A. W., Oonk, H. B., van de Wiel, D. F. M., & Meloen, R. H. (2002). Performance of male pigs immunized against GnRH is related to the time of onset of biological response. *Journal of Animal Science*. 80(11), 2953–2959. doi:10.1016/0264-410X(94)90226-7
- Warriss, P. (2009). Meat science: an introductory text (2nd ed.). Wallingford: CABI.
- Weiler, U., Götz, M., Schmidt, A., Otto, M. & Müller, S. (2013). Influence of sex and immunocastration on feed intake behavior, skatole and indole concentrations in adipose tissue of pigs. *Animal*. 7(2), 300-308.
- Yuan, Y.L., Li, J.L., Zhang, W.H., Li, C., Gao, F., & Zhou, G.H. (2012). A comparison of slaughter performance and meat quality of pigs immunised with a gonadotrophin-releasing factor vaccine against boar taint with physically castrated pigs. *Animal Production Science*. 52(10), 911–916. doi:10.1071/AN11222
- Zamaratskaia, G., Andersson, H.K., Chen, G., Andersson, K., Madej, A., & Lundström, K. (2008a). Effect of a Gonadotropin-releasing Hormone Vaccine (ImprovacTM) on Steroid Hormones, Boar Taint Compounds and Performance in Entire Male Pigs. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals*. 43(3), 351–359. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0531.2007.00914.x
- Zamaratskaia, G., Rydhmer, L., Andersson, H.K., Chen, G., Lowagie, S., Andersson, K., & Lundstrom, K. (2008b). Long-term effect of vaccination against gonadotropin-releasing hormone, using Improvac (TM), on hormonal profile and behaviour of male pigs. *Animal Reproduction Science*. 108(1-2), 37–48. doi:10.1016/j.anireprosci.2007.07.001

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. Read about SLU's publishing agreement here:

• https://www.slu.se/en/subweb/library/publish-and-analyse/register-and-publish/agreement-for-publishing/.

☐ YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

⊠ NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.